1950

# Uintah Freight Lines, Salt Lake Transfer Co., and Ashworth Transfer Co. v. Public Service Commission of Utah and Guy Prichard : Brief of Plaintiffs

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is before the Supreme Court on writ of certiorari from the Public Service Commission of Utah for the purpose of reviewing a report and order of the Commission dated September 12, 1949, following a hearing on July 21, 1949, held at Price, Utah. Petition for rehearing was filed September 22, 1949, and denied October 18, 1949. The petition for rehearing was filed

by these plaintiffs and alleged as error all matters which are before this Court for review.

The issue before this Court is whether there was substantial evidence to support the report and order of the Commission. 76-6-16, U.C.A., 1943; *Salt Lake and Utah Railway v. Public Service Commission, et al.*, 106 Utah 405, 149 P. 2d 647; *McCarthy et al. v. Public Service Commission*, 111 Utah 489, 184 P. 2d 220.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The application of Guy Prichard was filed June 15, 1949, by which he sought to enlarge the Certificate of Convenience and Necessity issued to him in 1946. The original Certificate No. 741 authorized Guy Prichard to operate as a common carrier by motor vehicle for the transportation of commodities, which may be described generally as requiring special equipment or service of a character not regularly furnished by regular common carriers by reason of their size, shape, weight, origin, destination, or nature, and to haul equipment and supplies for use in pipe and pole line construction and discovery, development, and production of natural gas and petroleum or minerals. This service was to be performed to or from all points within Carbon, Emery, Duchesne, Uintah, Grand, and San Juan counties over irregular routes on call, and to or from any point in said counties for connection with the rail head at Heber City, Utah, all in intrastate commerce. The application seeks to amend this certificate by expanding the territory so as

to include to or from all points in those counties, as well as additional counties of Daggett, Wayne, Piute, Garfield, Sanpete, Kane, Sevier, and Wasatch, and further, to authorize the hauling of such commodities "to or from any point in Utah, providing the point of origin or destination of shipment is at a point in the above mentioned counties".

The order of the Commission gives the applicant a part of what he seeks by adding Wayne County to the counties already authorized and giving authority to perform the service to or from any point in Utah where the origin or destination of the movement is in one of the original six counties, with Wayne County added.

Included among the protestants were the plaintiffs. The Uintah Freight Lines protested as to its territory, which is generally from Salt Lake to Uintah Basin; The Salt Lake Transfer Company and Ashworth Transfer Company, whose authorities are generally similar to Prichard's as to commodities and service with authority based upon grandfather rights to serve all points within the State of Utah, protested as to the entire application.

Certificate of Convenience and Necessity No. 274 was issued to Sterling Transportation Company on October 2, 1926, and as amended and now held by the successor in interest of Sterling Transportation Company, Uintah Freight Lines, gives authority to serve as a common carrier of property by specified routes, among other territories all points on said routes between

Salt Lake City and points within the Uintah Basin and east of Heber City (R. 207, 222), and there was put in evidence lists of equipment owned by Uintah Freight Lines and available to Uintah Freight Lines under lease (R. 29 to 31) which show that this plaintiff has available trucks, trailers, and semi-trailers, van, panel, stake, and flatbed types of bodies, and one unit with an A frame and winch.

Insofar as it could be considered pertinent to a need for service between Uintah Basin and Salt Lake City, the following evidence or lack of evidence is pointed out:

The list of temporary permits issued to the defendant Prichard includes none between Salt Lake City and any Uintah Basin point (R. 43, 44). Mr. Prichard testified to having a connection in Vernal at the Peyton Shops and stated he had been called on one occasion and that "Uintah Freight Lines takes care of most of that," without any indication that the one call from Mr. Peyton involved transportation to or from Salt Lake City (R. 83);

There were several questions and answers showing that when the defendant Prichard obtained his original certificate it was upon stipulation of certain carriers that he would be limited to six counties and whether such limitation was to be binding in the future (R. 172, 173);

Mr. Sims, representing Salt Lake Transfer Company, testified that he has a contact in Vernal (R. 177);



Mr. Sims also testified that during the laying of a pipeline the Salt Lake Transfer Company enjoyed a little increase in their business toward the Uintah Basin (R. 180); and this was repeated on cross-examination (R. 183);

Mr. Campbell, a resident of Uintah County and engaged in the contracting business (R. 204), testified that Ashworth Transfer Company brought one shipment from Salt Lake to a point 12 miles west of Vernal (R. 205) and that there was a two days' delay in the shipment, for which no claim was presented (R. 207), which delay was, according to Mr. Ashworth, because the tractor was not ready at the Lang Company on the day it was expected (R. 212, 213);

Mr. Campbell also testified that Uintah Freight Lines serves Vernal on daily runs and that their service has been good (R. 208) and further testified that he was interested only in seeing to it that Mr. Prichard's service between Price and Vernal was not interrupted (R. 209);

Mr. Ashworth testified that it is his opinion that there will be an increased activity in hauling into the Uintah Basin (R. 219);

The plaintiffs, Salt Lake Transfer Company and Ashworth Transfer Company, object to the report and order on the ground of extension to and from all points in Utah outside the specified counties and refer the court to the following evidence or lack of evidence in the transcript:

The scope of the authority encompasses all counties, points and places in Utah but there is an absolute absence of any evidence whatsoever in the record as to the following counties in Utah: Cache, Davis, Box Elder, Morgan, Rich, Tooele, Juab, Millard, Beaver, Iron, Washington, Wayne, Garfield, Sevier and Sanpete.

Only six so-called public witnesses appeared in the proceedings, three from Carbon County, two from Emery County (both at Huntington) and one from Uintah County. The last named, Mr. Martin Campbell, has been referred to before and he did not know the reason for the one alleged delay (R. 206), admitted that there was daily service available to him (R. 207) and that he was testifying on behalf of the applicant as to service between Price and Vernal (R. 209 and 210).

The two witnesses from Huntington, Utah were, G. W. Nielson (R. 135) and J. L. Larsen (R. 148). Neither of them testified as to any actual transportation needs, nor as to any specific points from which they would need to have commodities moved for them in the future. Both referred to a haul of pipe performed late in the Fall of 1946 by Ashworth Transfer Company when only one of its trucks got stuck in the mud and bad roads (R. 147) just before the project was suspended for the Winter (R. 145) and completed the next Spring. This pipe moved from Salt Lake City to the Huntington area. Their present pipe purchases come from Denver to Price and are moved by truck to Hun-

tington by Mr. Prichard, a haul for which he presently has authority (R. 152).

Two of the three witnesses from Carbon County appeared without authority from their employers, both of which have offices in Salt Lake City and employ the services of protestants, Salt Lake Transfer Company and Ashworth Transfer Company, to-wit, Erin Leonard (R. 129 and 131) and George B. Jackson (R. 185 and 202). The first of these two witnesses only operates as a salesman in the counties of Carbon, Emery, Grand, San Juan, Uintah and Duchesne (R. 130), and the second, Mr. Jackson, has been with the mining company in Kenilworth for some 42 years but has only engaged the services of the applicant twice in two years (R. 192) and did not know of any actual future needs for service. He acknowledged the availability of service from other authorized carriers, including daily service from Rio Grande Motor Ways and Carbon Freight Line (R. 195), and Denver and Rio Grande Western Railroad (R. 196).

The other Carbon county witness and remaining public witness appearing was Mike Gamber of Price, Utah who is engaged in coal mining at Upper Spring Canyon (R. 111 and 112). He was at the hearing to tell of one delay suffered by him in all of his years of coal mining. This involved the movement of tubing from Salt Lake City to his mine, five feet in diameter and twenty-four feet long. He suffered some delay in arrival of the tubing, but the matter appeared to have been

occasioned because the tubing was such that when loaded the Highway Patrol of Utah would not permit it to be moved over the highways on Saturdays, Sundays or holidays and the shipper tendered it to Salt Lake Transfer Company for hauling just prior to the 4th of July week-end (R. 168). Though the shipper had not specified that unloading facilities would be needed at the mine, Mr. Gamber complained that he had procured the services of applicant's winch truck to remove these tubes and erect them (R. 114). Though he had been mining there since 1938, he had never used the services of the applicant before this single isolated case (R. 117), and he had no testimony as to any future need for applicant to serve him between any points at all.

One of the exhibits introduced at the hearing (R. 43-44) represents a letter referring to certain temporary authority permits granted by the Commission to the applicant during the period from July 19, 1948 to July 7, 1949. Protestants have taken the position that these were wrongfully issued by the Commission and that such do not constitute any evidence of convenience and necessity. One of these, for example, is shown for hauling between Salt Lake City and Monticello, Utah for the Atomic Energy Commission (R. 44). Affirmative, undisputed testimony was adduced (R. 148-150), by Mr. Rulon C. Ashworth that the commodities were tanks, that they had authority to haul the same, had equipment available in Salt Lake City to perform the work, had been requested to transport the same, had

sent a truck down to load the commodities and when advised that applicant had procured a special permit, had, in company with Mr. Sims of the Salt Lake Transfer Company, gone to the Commission and strenuously opposed the ex parte gift of a special permit to the applicant. Both of these authorized carriers "were ready, and willing and available to serve at that time" (R. 250). Thus such temporary permits cannot and must not be considered as evidence of convenience and necessity.

Further evidence was adduced that at the time applicant procured his original authority to serve in the six Eastern counties in 1946, and in reliance upon his representation that he would not seek other territory to serve, these protestants withdrew their protests (R. 172).

Both Salt Lake Transfer Company and Ashworth Transfer Company hold a similar commodity description authority to that of the applicant, but both of them are authorized to transport such commodities to and from all points in the state of Utah. Both have adequate equipment and trained employees to serve all of this territory (R. 164, 165, 211 and 214). Both have idle equipment and their business has declined some 20%. Salt Lake Transfer Company has been performing this type service since 1880 and Mr. Ashworth for the past 38 years. Witnesses for both testified that except for occasional hauls, the alleged increased development of the Eastern area has not resulted in increased demand for transportation service. Both companies are faced



with maintaining a large number of units of operating equipment, 111 by Salt Lake Transfer Company (R. 164) and 70 by Ashworth Transfer Company (R. 211) and an active organization of employees, with no work (R. 172).

In addition to the services of the two above named carriers between the Salt Lake City area and the Price and Carbon County areas, the shippers have available to them the services of the Denver and Rio Grande Railroad, Rio Grande Motor Ways and the Carbon Freight Lines. Both of the last named motor carriers have regular daily service and both have idle equipment and are ready, willing and anxious to serve the public. Each of these also are parties to inter-line agreements with other truck and transportation companies serving all routes in Utah for a complete service to shippers from any point and highway (R. 233-34 and 245).

The Court should be advised that there is not a single word from a single shipper or any place in the record of this hearing that any requested carrier service in the transportation of any commodity had ever been denied. The matter of some so-called rate advantages from applicant were erroneously alluded to indirectly, but the evidence is that he is a party to the same tariff and should charge the same rates as protestants on the same hauls (R. 214-215). There is no need for the additional authority sought by applicant (R. 214).

The only evidence of any semblance of need for

the applicant to serve in the counties of Utah and Weber appears from the temporary authorities (R. 43) of two movements between Weber County and Carbon County and two movements between Utah County and Carbon County. These are referred to in applicant's own self serving testimony in an attempt to justify his hauls in this area outside of his proper authority. Neither of said counties produced a single witness to state that there was a need for his service. Likewise, not a single person appeared from Salt Lake County to request rendition of service by the applicant.

### STATEMENT OF ERRORS RELIED ON

1. There is no competent evidence to sustain the finding that there is a need for extension of the applicant's service between the counties of Duchesne and Uintah and any other part of the state of Utah, not covered by the present authority of the applicant.

2. The finding of the Commission that public convenience and necessity requires the service of the applicant to all points in the state of Utah is not supported by any substantial evidence.

3. The granting of the said authority to applicant will be detrimental to the protestants, plaintiffs, and to the motor carrier service otherwise available to shippers within the state of Utah.

4. The granting of the application will be detrimental to the best interests of the people of the state of Utah and of the territory affected by the report and order.

5. The Commission failed and neglected to make

any finding regarding the adequacy of the transportation service now rendered by and available to the public through the protesting carriers, plaintiffs herein.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

THERE IS NO COMPETENT EVIDENCE TO SUSTAIN THE FINDING THAT THERE IS A NEED FOR EXTENSION OF THE APPLICANT'S SERVICE BETWEEN THE COUNTIES OF DUCHESNE AND UINTAH AND ANY OTHER PART OF THE STATE OF UTAH, NOT COVERED BY THE PRESENT AUTHORITY OF THE APPLICANT.

There is no substantial evidence in support of the extension of applicant's service to or from outside the counties of Carbon, Emery, Duchesne, Uintah, San Juan, Grand and Wayne.

The Commission's report as to statements which are apparently intended to support the order of the commission are as follows:

“That there is a considerable demand for the transportation of property as herein above defined in said application, between points in Utah, where the origin or destination of the movement is in Uintah, Duchesne, Grand, Carbon, Emery, Wayne and San Juan counties, and public convenience and necessity require the said service. \* \* \*

“That present and future convenience and necessity requires that Certificate of Convenience



and Necessity No. 741, heretofore issued to applicant, be amended to read as follows:'' (R. 22)

It therefore appears that the Commission made no finding that any area of the state of Utah other than Wayne County required the service of Guy Prichard outside his original six counties and surely it will not be sufficient to find that hauls had been made to points outside the six counties on temporary authority and that therefore there was a need for authorized service to the entire State of Utah beginning or ending in one of the six counties. And it cannot logically be argued that because Salt Lake City was one terminal of hauls made into Carbon and San Juan Counties that there is therefore a need for service between Salt Lake City and the Uintah Basin. (See R. 43 which shows temporary authorities issued between Salt Lake City and Price and Gordon Creek in Carbon County and between Salt Lake City and Green River in Emery County.)

And likewise, there is no force to applicant's position in seeking authority to serve Salt Lake City to and from the Uintah Basin merely because there has been an increase in business to and from the Uintah Basin, where carriers already serving the area have abundant equipment and have suffered a net loss in business which has made additional money, men and equipment available for service into the Uintah Basin or elsewhere in the state.

The position of the plaintiff Uintah Freight Lines simply is that there is no evidence to support the exten-

sion of applicant's service so as to include Salt Lake City to and from the Uintah Basin, and if defendants can find such evidence in the record a reply brief will be submitted to argue whether such evidence is substantial. There is not in the record before the Commission one word of testimony from any shipper witness, or from any citizen living in the Uintah Basin to the effect that existing service to and from the basin and Salt Lake City is inadequate, or that there is a need for the service of an additional carrier in that area.

The addition of service for the applicant to and from Wayne County is not significant because it is a single county with a small population (2,394 according to the last official census), Salt Lake City has a population of 149,934 and is the shipping center for all of Salt Lake County, with a population of 211,623, which is 38.27% of the total population of the State of Utah. A carrier authorized to serve some portions of the State of Utah should not be allowed to add service to and from Salt Lake City for an area such as the Uintah Basin, which embraces all of two counties, without a showing that the Uintah Basin has a need for such service; and it should not be enough to show that on two or three occasions the carrier was able to obtain a temporary permit to serve a point in different counties.

Section 76-5-18, U.C.A., 1943, sets the requirements for issuance and amendment of certificates of convenience and necessity, and provides:

“If the commission finds from the evidence

that the public convenience and necessity require the proposed service or any part thereof it may issue the certificate as prayed for, or issue it for the partial exercise only of the privilege sought, and may attach to the exercise of the right granted by such certificate such terms and conditions as in its judgment the public convenience and necessity may require, otherwise such certificate shall be denied.”

It is true that the cases hold that if there is substantial evidence to support the decision of the commission the Supreme Court will affirm; but in the language of the statute there must be substantial evidence that the public convenience and necessity “require” the proposed service and “otherwise such certificates shall be denied”. The evidence in the record touching on common motor carrier service to the Uintah Basin is entirely devoid of any proof that additional service is required.

In *Goodrich v. Public Service Commission of Utah* (Utah Supreme Court, November 8, 1949), 198 P. 2d 975, this Court affirmed the rule that the limit of the court’s review is to determine whether the Commission had substantial evidence upon which to base its decision. That case is interesting because it involved service to the Uintah Basin by the Uintah Freight Lines and because the Commission found, and the Court upheld the finding, that Uintah Freight Lines was rendering reasonably adequate service and that granting the application would be detrimental to the best interests of the

people of the area. The Court upheld the Commission in permitting the existing carrier to improve its service after application had been made for an extension of service by a competitor, and still further, that the service was reasonably adequate. In the case now before the Court, there is no testimony of any need by any shipper in the Uintah Basin or in Salt Lake City for additional service between those points. If such need existed the Commission, according to the Goodrich case, should give existing carriers opportunity to satisfy the need before a new carrier will be permitted to come in. In the absence of any evidence of need, there is obviously no occasion to extend additional service and a fortiori no showing of public need that additional service is required.

In *Utah Light & Traction Co. v. Public Service Commission*, 101 Utah 99 at 114, 118 P. 2d 683, this Court said:

“If the need for new or additional service exists, it is the duty of the commission to grant certificates of convenience and necessity to qualified applicants, but when a territory is satisfactorily serviced, and its transportation facilities are ample, a duplication of such service which unfairly interferes with the existing carriers may undermine and weaken the transportation set up generally and thus deprive the public of an efficient permanent service.

And in that case the Court considered the desirability of providing service from rural communities

to a metropolitan area. That case involved passenger bus service into areas not previously served by any carrier and the Commission found that in order to give reasonably adequate service there should be direct service into Salt Lake City rather than require interchange of passengers at the point where the new carrier's service came into the territory of the existing carrier. This is not at all the problem which faces the Commission and the Court in the case at bar; since in this case there is already existing service into Uintah Basin by the three plaintiffs, all of whom render service to and from Salt Lake City, and no showing that any additional service is required to or from Salt Lake City, or to or from any other point serving Uintah Basin points.

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