1950

Uintah Freight Lines, Salt Lake Transfer Co., and Ashworth Transfer Co. v. Public Service Commission of Utah and Guy Prichard : Brief of Defendant

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I.

THERE IS ABUNDANT COMPETENT EVIDENCE IN THE RECORD TO SUSTAIN THE COMMISSION'S FINDINGS AND ORDER THAT PUBLIC CONVENIENCE AND NECESSITY REQUIRE THE EXTENSION OF APPLICANT'S AUTHORITY.

We feel that the first four Assignments of Errors reached by the plaintiffs raise but one question; i. e., is there sufficient evidence in the record to sustain the action of the Commission. We will therefore treat plaintiffs' first four points under this one heading.

Regardless of the generalizations of plaintiffs, it is respectfully submitted that on the whole record there is an abundance of substantial evidence to support the Commission's findings and order. The long line of this Court's decisions, the last of which seems to be the Goodrich case, makes useless the citation of authority for the proposition that the Commission's findings will not be disturbed unless not based on any substantial evidence. None of the generalizations mentioned is a substitute for the unanimous findings of a Commission experienced in the matters which are the subject of this case.

At this juncture we wish to point out that plaintiffs indulge in an inconsistency when, on page 12 of their brief they quote the report of the Commission which states public convenience and necessity require transportation between points *in Utah* where the *origin or destination* of the movement is

in Uintah, Duchesne, Grand, Carbon, Emery, Wayne and San Juan counties, basing its order thereon, and then on page 13 state that "the Commission made no finding that any area of the State of Utah other than Wayne County required the service of Guy Prichard outside his original six counties.

Before discussing other parts of plaintiffs' brief and the cases involved, we suggest at this point that the Goodrich case, cited on p. 15 of plaintiffs' brief with approval, is (1) not analgous to our case and (2) does not support plaintiffs' theory that the Commission should give existing carriers first chance to satisfy convenience and necessity. This Court is thoroughly familiar with the case, and we simply point out that a contract carier problem was involved there, not a common carrier problem as here. Furthermore, it was obvious that granting contract carrier permits to serve only four shippers was not in the public interest, which required the broader service supplied by a common carrier. Even though the Uintah Freight Lines offered to furnish additional service *after* the applicants had filed their petition, the Commission sustained the Uintah's protest, and this Hon. Court upheld the Commission's refusal to grant the authority requested, the Court saying:

"The Commission is in a much more favorable position to determine the benefits and detriments of the two competing systems than is this court."

The same Uintah line, which espoused that decision upholding the wisdom of the Commission's decision, now would ignore and discount the quoted passage and prefer to say, as it did in its brief on page 8 that the "Protestants have taken the po-

sition that these (17 temporary permitted granted to Prichard) were *wrongfully* issued by the Commission and that such do not constitute any evidence of convenience and necessity." This is the same sort of inconsistency as heretofore mentioned.

As to the plaintiffs' contention that existing carriers should have first chance to satisfy the requirements of convenience and necessity (p. 16 Brief), our Court has spoken on the subject, not in the Goodrich case, but in *Salt Lake & Utah R. Corp. vs. P.S.C.*, 106 Ut. 403 P(2) 647, 1944, when it said:

"Whether or not the existing common motor carrier should have been given a further opportunity to furnish the required services before allowing a competing motor carrier to enter the field is a matter of policy which is entirely within the province of the Public Service Commission."

On p. 16 of plaintiffs' brief a quotation from *Utah Light & Traction vs. P.S.C.*, 101 Ut. 99, 118 P(2) 683, is set forth, apparently to convince that our Court is committed to a principle that if there is existing adequate service, there should be no duplication thereof by granting new authority. Attention is respectfully called to the language quoted and the significant phraseology that condemns a duplication only that "*unfairly interferes*" with existing carriers. In our case the Commission most obviously found that there would be no unfair interference with existing carriers. We can agree with counsel's own statement on p. 17 of the brief, that factually, the very case they cite with approval presents "not at all the problem which faces the Commission and the Court in the case at bar." Better had counsel quoted other excerpts from the case, such as:

“The paramount consideration is the benefit to the public, the promotion and advancement of its growth,”
and:

“If the Commission’s determination finds justification in the evidence, it is not a law question and we cannot review or modify it or set it aside,”
or:

“True, existing carriers benefit from the restricted competition, but this is merely incidental in the solution of the problem of securing adequate and permanent service. The public interest is paramount.”

Obviously the Public Service Commission adopted the philosophy of the language last quoted, based upon the evidence before it.

A word must be said about *McCarthy vs. P.S.C.*, 111 Ut. 489, 184 P(2) 220, cited by plaintiffs. We respectfully submit that this case is not in point. All of the evidence conclusively indicated that the applicants wanted to continue as, and intended to hold themselves out as contract carriers, not as common carriers, but made their application for common carrier rights under a mistaken belief that they were required so to do in order to comply with the law and perform the strictly contract carrier duties they had been pursuing. There is no semblance of similarity in fact or fancy to our case, there being a complete absence of evidence to support applicants in the McCarthy case. The language of the Court seemed to indicate that there may have been a different result had the applicants, like Prichard, expressed a willingness and ability to perform the requested service. The Court quoted approvingly from *Fuller-Topance vs. P.S.C.*, 99 Ut. 28, 96 P(2) 723, with respect to necessity and convenience, in apparent disagreement with

plaintiffs' contention that present adequacy of service should eliminate granting of any new authority, when it said:

"But a service is not necessarily adequate because the community can 'get by,' can conduct its business without further or additional service. To be adequate the services must meet the requirements of the public convenience and necessity in such a way that the needs, growth and welfare of the community are reasonably met and supplied."

It is submitted that there is ample evidence in our case upon which the Commission's findings can be sustained, from the standpoint of the needs, growth and development in the Eastern Utah area.

On pp. 23-24 of their brief, plaintiffs have unwittingly made an inaccurate statement not supported by the record. After stating that the protestants introduced testimony that their service had been satisfactory, counsel states that all of the evidendce indicated such protestants were able to render additional services within the area. Attention is directed to the fact that Uintah Freight Lines, appellant here, had neither counsel nor other representation at the hearing, and offered no evidence whatever, except by filing a financial statement and list of equipment.

In passing, reference to language in *Mulcahy vs. P.S.C.*, 101, Ut. 243, 117 P(2) 298, may be apropos in generalizing as to the attitude of this Court toward (1) review of the Commission's findings, (2) convenience and necessity, and (3) whether existing carriers should have any pre-emptive rights:

"It is not required that the facts found by the Commission be conclusively established, nor even that they be shown by a preponderance of the evidence. If there is in the record competent evidence from which a reasonable mind could believe or conclude that a certain fact existed, a finding of such fact finds justification in the evidence and we cannot disturb it.

"The statute should be so construed and applied as to encourage rather than retard mechanical and other improvements in appliances and in the quality of the service rendered the public, and should look to the future as well as the present, providing not only for present urgent need, but such as may be reasonably anticipated from the probable growth of population, industry and community development.

"Having given due consideration to those matters the Commission determines whether the existing carriers or a new one should be permitted to render the proposed service. If the Commission's determination finds justification in the evidence, it is not a law question and we cannot review or modify it or set it aside."

And apropos of plaintiffs' implied contention that Prichard should not be allowed enlarged authority because of interference with plaintiff's rights, our Court in *Union Pacific vs. P.S.C.*, 103 Ut. 459 135 P(2) 915, stated:

"In the exercise of its power to grant or withhold certificates of convenience and necessity, questions of impairment of vested or property rights cannot very well arise. No one can have a vested right to be free from competition, to have a monopoly against the public. And unless some justifiable question arises, unless some point is juridically present, this court will not substitute its judgment for that of an administrative tribunal, charged by law with carrying out matters of non-judicial character."

A point is made in plaintiffs' brief that since no witnesses appeared from many counties in Utah, there is no evidence of need for any service in such counties. Counsel might as well have said that there were no witnesses from the hundreds of cities and towns in Utah and therefore authority to haul to such cities and towns could not be granted because of lack of evidence. The Commission, through its experience and from facts presented to it, is justified in making orders that apply to areas of the State—in this case, the area represented by the counties in which Prichard has heretofore been confined, as related to the area of the State outside the ambit of his former authority. The Commission may authoritatively conclude that service into an area from various points outside the area justifies the granting of authority to cover contiguous or similar points outside the area, to satisfy a public need and convenience. There is testimony in our case, given by competent witnesses, whom the Commission is entitled to believe, that public convenience would be served if Prichard's authority were extended to include movements originating in the Eastern Utah area, destined for points generally situated outside the area, and to include movements originating generally outside of the area, destined for points inside the area. Such testimony, coupled with all other evidence adduced, justifies the Commission in designating the counties within which Prichard may initiate movements, for consignment outside said counties, and in designating all other counties of the State as points where a movement may initiate providing its destination is found in the counties assigned to Prichard. Any other interpretation, as has been suggested, would burden an applicant with the necessity of bringing witnesses not only

from each county, but from each city, town and hamlet in the State.

Plaintiffs refer on p. 14 of their brief, to Sec. 76-5-18, U.C.A 1943, which states what the Commission may do in a given case, included in which is a discretionary authority to issue certificates for less authority than that requested. The Commission exercised such discretionary authority in this very case. Prichard asked to extend the circle of counties in which he could operate to Daggett, Wayne, Piute, Garfield, Sanpete, Kane, Sevier and Wasatch. The Commission denied such request with respect to 7 of the 8 counties requested, granting permission only in Wayne County. It is respectfully submitted that the Commission must have weighed the evidence carefully, and the contention of plaintiffs that the Commission acted arbitrarily and capriciously in this case, has no merit. Had its decision been arbitrary and capricious, there seems to be no logical reason why it should have excluded the seven counties mentioned.

II.

THE COMMISSION DID MAKE A FINDING AS TO THE ADEQUACY OF THE TRANSPORTATION SERVICE PRESENTLY RENDERED AND AVAILABLE TO THE PUBLIC.

We think it should be pointed out that the authority granted to the applicant involves the transportation of commodities requiring special handling and that the record clearly

shows that this service is not furnished by the regular common carriers operating in the territory involved.

Plaintiffs quote a portion of 76-5-18 Utah Code Annotated 1943, and contend that the Commission failed to make a finding that the existing transportation facilities are inadequate. We think it proper to quote more extensively from that section in order to show what is required of the Commission thereunder.

“ * * * Before granting a certificate to a common motor carrier, the commission shall take into consideration the financial ability of the applicant to properly perform the service sought under the certificate and also the character of the highway over which said common motor carrier proposes to operate and the effect thereon, and upon the travelling public using the same, and also the existing transportation facilities in the territory proposed to be served. If the Commission finds that the applicant is financially unable to properly perform the service sought under the certificate, or that the highway over which he proposes to operate is already sufficiently burdened with traffic, or that the granting of the certificate applied for will be detrimental to the best interests of the people of the state of Utah, the commission shall not grant such certificate.”

The Commission found that there is a considerable demand for the transportation facilities covered by the authority granted to the applicant and that the highways over which applicant proposes to operate are not unduly burdened with traffic and that the granting of the application, as restricted, will not be detrimental to the best interests of the people of the State or the territory affected (R. 22). We submit that these Findings amply satisfy the requirements of Section 76-5-18. That section

does not require an express finding that existing facilities are inadequate. It does require that the Commission take into consideration the adequacy of such facilities, which they obviously did. However, the Finding of the Commission that there is an unsatisfied demand and that the highways are not unduly burdened and that the granting of the application will not be detrimental to the best interests of the public, is in fact a finding that the existing facilities are inadequate. If they were adequate there would be no unsatisfied demand.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we respectfully submit that an examination of the record, in light of all the circumstances and evidence, and a review of the authorities our own court has handed down, lead inevitably and unequivocally to the conclusion that the Commission did not err in granting to Prichard the restricted authority reflected in its order in this case.